

# EPA Sector Program Plan 2001-2005

As endorsed by the National Advisory Council for Environmental Policy and Technology (NACEPT) *and* the NACEPT Sector Committee

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Policy, Economics, and Innovation November 9, 2000

# **Executive Summary**

The **EPA Sector Program Plan 2001-2005** takes sector programs a step forward at the Environmental Protection Agency, completing the transition from an experimental phase to the routine use of sector approaches as part of the Agency's mainstream activities.

The Plan describes the ways in which sector approaches now are used by EPA and other government agencies to achieve enhanced environmental protection with less regulatory burden. It also identifies a set of strategic actions to enhance EPA's work with industry sectors.

The Sector Program Plan builds upon lessons from earlier sector pilot programs and ongoing activities, inside and outside the Agency. It considers all types of sector tools and approaches, whether they are voluntary or regulatory, single-medium or multi-media, issue-specific or industry-wide. The Plan addresses the interests and roles of government co-implementers – EPA's state, local, and tribal environmental protection partners -- as well as other stakeholder groups.

The Sector Program Plan has a five year time horizon. By implementing the actions in this Plan, EPA can achieve long-term goals for industrial sector environmental protection, captured in the following vision statement:

#### Vision: EPA Leadership Enables Environmental Excellence by U.S. Industries

Over the next five years, better understanding and cooperation among industry, government, and citizen stakeholders will help large numbers of facilities in a variety of industrial sectors make continuous improvement toward environmental excellence. Stakeholder-supported environmental strategies for industry sectors will bring marked reductions in pollution, waste, environmental and human health impacts, and regulatory burden.

The Plan reflects the lessons learned from sector program evaluations, plus the input of many stakeholders within EPA and outside the Agency. Several recurring themes derived from these sources provide a foundation for the actions in this Plan:

- Sector approaches are increasingly common. Successful sector programs are found in EPA's voluntary and regulatory functions and in all program offices and regions. They are used throughout EPA and by state, local, and tribal co-implementers to achieve better environmental protection.
- Effective partnerships between EPA and government co-implementers are crucial for success in implementing sector approaches. Collaboration with stakeholder and community groups further strengthens these programs.
- There is a challenge in reconciling the interests and needs of single-medium versus multi-media sector programs.

- There is an inherent tension between the need for flexibility to allow innovative sector approaches to address shifting priorities, and the need to "lock in" sector program plans for purposes of EPA planning and budgeting.
- Many opportunities exist to enhance the ability of the Agency and government coimplementers to plan and implement sector programs.

The Plan identifies six general opportunities and twelve related actions to enhance the effectiveness of sector activities and fully integrate sector activities into the Agency's work:

#### **Opportunity: Integrate sector approaches into EPA's strategic planning**

Action:

• Identify sector approaches as strategies to achieve EPA's Strategic Goals

#### Opportunity: Coordinate planning and implementation of multi-media sector programs

Actions:

- Designate EPA staff "catalysts" to identify multi-media sector opportunities
- Recognize government co-implementer priorities during sector program planning
- Coordinate selection of priority sectors for cross-Agency attention
- Design and implement multi-media sector programs to address priority environmental problems
- Expand the use of Performance Partnership Agreements and other agreement tools to promote the use of sector approaches by government co-implementers

#### **Opportunity:** Gather and share sector information

Actions:

- Develop a sector programs data source
- Make sector tools and training more available for state and local governments

#### **Opportunity: Enhance performance measurement of sector programs**

Actions:

- Develop a training program and toolbox for performance measurement
- Implement performance measures to assess the environmental results of enforcement and compliance assurance activities

#### **Opportunity: Provide resources to support new sector work**

Action:

• Establish a sector innovation fund to create a strong incentive for EPA programs to consider sector approaches to achieve their program goals

#### **Opportunity: Establish sector-based customer service functions**

Action:

• Identify EPA "points of contact" for selected industry sectors

# **Table of Contents**

## **Vision Statement**

#### 1. Introduction

- Scope and Purpose of the Plan
- Definitions and Essential Elements
- Value of Sector Approaches
- Historical Context
- Themes of the Plan
- Organization of the Plan

# 2. Use of Sector Approaches by EPA and Government Co-Implementers

- Use of Sector Approaches in EPA Functions
- Use of Sector Approaches by Government Co-Implementers

# 3. Opportunities to Enhance the Effectiveness of Sector Activities

- Integrate Sector Approaches into EPA's Strategic Planning
- Coordinate Planning and Implementation of Multi-Media Sector Programs
- Gather and Share Sector Information
- Enhance Performance Measurement of Sector Programs
- Provide Resources to support New Sector Work
- Establish Sector-based Customer Service Functions

# **Companion Documents**

Summary of Sector Activities: EPA and Government Co-Implementer Programs

Toolbox for Sector Program Performance Measurement (DRAFT)

# EPA Sector Program Plan, 2001-2005

# **Vision Statement**

## EPA Leadership Enables Environmental Excellence by U.S. Industries

Over the next five years, better understanding and cooperation among industry, government, and citizen stakeholders will help large numbers of facilities in a variety of industrial sectors make continuous improvement toward environmental excellence. Stakeholder-supported environmental strategies for industry sectors will bring marked reductions in pollution, waste, environmental and human health impacts, and regulatory burden.

# 1. Introduction

## Scope and Purpose of the Plan

The **EPA Sector Program Plan 2001-2005** takes sector programs a step forward at the Environmental Protection Agency, completing the transition from an experimental phase to the routine use of sector approaches as part of the Agency's mainstream activities.

The Plan describes the ways in which sector approaches now are used by EPA and other government agencies to achieve enhanced environmental protection with less regulatory burden. It also identifies a set of strategic actions to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency of sector programs at EPA.

The Sector Program Plan builds upon lessons from earlier sector pilot programs and ongoing activities, inside and outside the Agency. It considers all types of sector tools and approaches, whether they are voluntary or regulatory, single-medium or multi-media, issuespecific or industry-wide.

The Plan addresses the interests and roles of government co-implementers – EPA's state, local, and tribal environmental protection partners -- as well as other crucial stakeholder groups: industry trade associations, environmental public interest and labor organizations, environmental justice and community groups.

The Sector Program Plan has a five year time horizon. By implementing the actions in this Plan, EPA can achieve long-term goals for industrial sector environmental protection, captured in the vision statement, above.

This document is not a detailed work plan. It is a package of strategic actions designed to help achieve environmental results more cost-effectively by integrating sector programs into EPA's core functions.

# **Definitions and Essential Elements**

An industry "sector" is any discrete production system in the U.S. economy. In this plan the term "sector" is broadly construed to include traditional industrial sectors as well as non-traditional sectors such as service industries (e.g., dry cleaning or automotive repair).

A "sector approach" to environmental protection focuses on a sector as the basic analytical unit for identifying cost-effective ways to reduce industrial contributions to environmental problems. Sector approaches enable EPA and government co-implementers to frame regulatory and/or voluntary solutions that focus on unique sector issues. The industry sector focus can be extended to include related economic entities through the supplier-producer-customer chain and other networks that directly impact a sector.

A sector approach can address air, water, or land issues separately, or it can cover all environmental media. Sector approaches often encourage pollution prevention, and typically involve problem solving by a broad group of stakeholders. They are applied in conjunction with other types of environmental approaches, such as place-based watershed programs.

Sector approaches can lead to a number of types of actions, including the development of sector tools, changes in Agency policy, regulation development, and the creation of new, sector-based environmental programs. Sector tools are specifically designed to meet the needs of a sector. Tools may include research and development, compliance assistance, or other forms of technical assistance (e.g., pollution prevention).

Sector approaches are not always the appropriate response to an environmental problem. Where a sector approach does seem appropriate, there are certain elements that increase the likelihood of successful outcomes. These elements include:

- Willingness of an industry's leaders to engage in dialogue to solve problems; Prior effort by EPA and government co-implementers to learn about an industry
- sector and understand factors that affect facilities' performance; Full engagement and support of necessary stakeholders in problem-solving;
- Recognition that the benefits will outweigh the cost of the sector program
  - making stakeholders more willing to "invest" in the work.

# Value of Sector Approaches

Through various pilot programs and their accompanying evaluations, EPA has learned that sector approaches can add value in many ways. The examples below are drawn from the previous Sector Action Plans and from the interviews that were conducted for this Plan.

• Sector approaches can improve the efficiency and effectiveness of existing regulatory programs.

•

sector.

and enforcement.

- Sector approaches address the special needs of industries composed predominantly of small and medium-sized businesses.
- Sector approaches provide a forum for addressing environmental problems from industrial sources that are not currently subject to regulation.

Sector approaches can be used to develop regulatory and/or voluntary environmental performance strategies customized to the characteristics and needs of a

Sector approaches can improve compliance through targeted technical assistance

- Sector approaches can be used to engage all interested and affected parties in identifying and acting on solutions, thereby serving as a catalyst for improvement and building trust among stakeholders.
- Sector approaches offer multiple and versatile tools for state, local, and tribal co-implementers to augment existing programs.
- Sector approaches offer a means to promote innovation in EPA programs, as called for in the Agency's Strategic Goals.

There is considerable support for sector programs among EPA's external stakeholders. Industry and public interest groups have stated that they view sector approaches as valuable ways to enhance environmental performance. External stakeholders have noted that sector approaches can lead to cost-savings and efficiencies without compromising environmental protection. Stakeholders also value the opportunities that many sector-based programs provide for their involvement in policy dialogue and program planning. The working relationships and trust that have developed between EPA personnel and outside participants in sector programs appear to be leading to better environmental performance.

#### **Historical Context**

EPA has used sector approaches for many years to address environmental problems. Regulations often focus on a specific industry's impacts under the jurisdiction of a single statutory authority. Examples include Maximum Achievable Control Technology (MACT) standards under the Clean Air Act and effluent guidelines under the Clean Water Act.

In the 1990s, EPA initiated multi-media sector programs. For example, EPA created Cross-Media Clusters in 1990 to coordinate action by industries and government programs that have responsibility for a particular environmental problem. The Sustainable Industry Program pioneered multi-media performance improvement programs for industry sectors. The Design for the Environment Program provided technical assistance to industry sectors on best practices for pollution prevention. In 1994, EPA launched the Common Sense Initiative (CSI). In this experimental program, the Agency worked with six industry sectors and other stakeholders to find innovative ways to achieve "cleaner, cheaper, smarter" environmental performance. The sectors addressed by CSI were metal finishing, petroleum refining, printing, automobile manufacturing, computers and electronics, and iron and steel. The four-year CSI effort produced over 40 sector projects and one sector-wide stewardship initiative: the Metal Finishing Strategic Goals Program.

Through the shared experiences of CSI and other sector programs, leaders from government, industry, and citizen groups now are more willing to sit down together to look for solutions to today's environmental challenges in a non-adversarial way. With this growing knowledge of how to use sector approaches to tackle tough problems, EPA began a process in 1998 to integrate sector work into Agency core functions.

Sector Action Plans were developed for FY1999 and FY2000 to guide this effort. This new EPA Sector Program Plan completes the transition planning. It provides a blueprint for the mainstream use of sector approaches by EPA, in close partnership with government co-implementers at the state, local, and tribal levels.

The recommendations for action in this Plan are based on information and suggestions drawn from program evaluations, other studies and written materials, as well as meetings with over 100 staff and managers from EPA program offices, regional offices, and co-implementer organizations. A cross-Agency workgroup helped to guide the process internally. The National Advisory Council for Environmental Policy and Technology's Standing Committee on Sectors provided a forum for external stakeholder participation.

# Themes of the Plan

Background research for this Plan highlighted several recurring themes that affect the planning and use of sector approaches to enhance environmental protection. These perspectives are widely held among stakeholders who participate in sector programs. The following five themes provide the basis for opportunities and actions presented in Chapter 3:

- Sector approaches are increasingly common. Successful sector programs are found in EPA's voluntary and regulatory functions and in all program offices and regions. They are used throughout EPA and by state, local, and tribal co-implementers to achieve better environmental protection.
- Effective partnerships between EPA and government co-implementers are crucial for success in implementing sector approaches. Collaboration with stakeholder and community groups further strengthens these programs.
- There is a challenge in reconciling the interests and needs of single-medium versus multi-media sector programs.

- There is an inherent tension between the need for flexibility to allow innovative sector approaches to address shifting priorities, and the need to "lock in" sector program plans far in advance for purposes of EPA planning and budgeting.
- Many opportunities exist to enhance the ability of the Agency and government coimplementers to plan and implement sector programs.

# Organization of the Plan

The remainder of the Plan is organized into two sections. The next section reports on a sample of ongoing sector activities at EPA and within government co-implementer organizations. The final section outlines opportunities and actions to facilitate the use of sector approaches over the next five years.

Two companion documents will also be available with the final draft of the Plan.

The first, *Summary of Sector Activities: EPA and Government Co-Implementer Programs*, describes in greater detail the current use of sector approaches and tools by EPA and co-implementer organizations. This document includes reports on many activities that were initiated under the Common Sense Initiative and were included in the preceding two Sector Plans. While not a complete inventory of sector activities, the Summary helps illuminate the range of programs and versatility of sector approaches.

The second document is a *Toolbox for Sector Program Performance Measurement*. With input from appropriate offices, the draft Toolbox will be further developed and tested over the coming months.

# 2. Use of Sector Approaches by EPA and Government Co-Implementers

Sector programs are used throughout EPA and state, local, and tribal co-implementing organizations. The discussion below illustrates the diversity of sector programs in use at these organizations. A more complete description and examples of sector programs are included in the companion document entitled *Summary of Sector Activities: EPA and Government Co-Implementer Programs*. This information was helpful in providing a context and rationale for the actions outlined in Chapter 3.

Sector activities can vary along the following dimensions:

- *Environmental media*. Some activities focus on a single medium, such as air, water, or solid waste, while others are multi-media in scope.
- *Stakeholder involvement.* Some activities emphasize broad stakeholder involvement, while others include a narrow group of stakeholders or allow stakeholders a more limited role.
- *Regulatory vs. voluntary.* Some activities have regulatory components, others promote voluntary performance improvements, and some sector activities combine voluntary and regulatory components.

While sector programs may vary along each of the above dimensions, they tend to fall into three categories:

- The first category includes *single-medium regulations* that are developed for particular sectors. For example, EPA's Office of Air and Radiation and Office of Water use this approach for many of their regulations.
- The second category includes *comprehensive multi-media programs*, such as Sustainable Industry, that evaluate issues and opportunities across an entire industry and then develop sector-wide performance improvement programs.
- The third category consists of *focused voluntary programs* that address a limited number of issues related to a sector. Programs such as Design for the Environment provide assistance that is tailored to the needs of a particular industry.

# **Use of Sector Approaches in EPA Functions**

Sector activities sponsored by EPA's program offices tend to focus on a single-medium and a specific regulation or problem. Multi-media activities generally are carried out by offices with cross-cutting responsibilities, such as the Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance (OECA), the Pollution Prevention Division of the Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics (OPPT), and the Office of Policy, Economics, and Innovation (OPEI).

This section summarizes the current types of sector work ongoing at EPA.

# Planning

EPA's planning and budgeting process includes the development of a Strategic Plan every three years as well as Annual Performance Plans and Performance Reports. These plans contain goals and objectives that describe the Agency's public commitments for environmental improvements. Among the Agency's strategic goals are clean air, clean and safe water, pollution prevention, better waste management, citizen right-to-know, and greater compliance with environmental laws and regulations.

Currently, sector programs are identified as a strategy to achieve *Goal 8: Sound Science, Improved Understanding of Environmental Risk, and Greater Innovation to Address Environmental Problems.* Although sector approaches are used to help achieve the other goals, they are not explicitly mentioned as "means and strategies" to achieve those objectives.

Sector strategies also are evident in other Agency planning processes, such individual program office and regional work planning, development of memoranda of agreement and other management agreements between EPA headquarters and regional offices, and negotiation of Performance Partnership Agreements with state agencies.

#### Regulation Development

A narrowly defined single-medium sector approach is inherent in many rulemakings. Examples include the Office of Air and Radiation's MACT (Maximum Achievable Control Technology) standards and the Office of Water's effluent guidelines. The processes for conducting these types of rulemakings are well established. Occasionally there are opportunities for coordination among rulemakings for a specific sector, within a single program or among different programs, but these opportunities are rare due to scheduling and other constraints.

# Permitting

Permits are written for individual facilities. As a result, permitting innovations to date have been tested on the facility level rather than on the sector level. EPA now is exploring ways to replicate permit innovations for entire sectors, working in cooperation with industry trade associations, state and local permitting authorities, and other stakeholders.

#### Enforcement and Compliance Assurance

EPA has an enforcement and compliance assurance process for identifying priority sectors for enhanced attention. EPA has found that using a sector approach is an effective way to address chronic non-compliance. The sectors denoted as priority sectors receive increased enforcement, opportunities to carry out self-audits and correct violations, and/or compliance assistance to help facilities understand and comply with the law.

#### Technical Assistance

EPA has found that sector-specific technical assistance can be particularly effective since it addresses technologies, processes, and environmental concerns that are unique to or tailored for a specific sector. Examples of sector-based technical assistance include guidance manuals, training, workshops, and internet-based compliance assistance and pollution prevention materials.

#### Multi-Media Performance Improvement Programs

These programs are characterized by the broad sector-wide, multi-media focus of their activities. EPA analyzes the needs and opportunities for an entire industry sector, covering the full range of performance: from the environmental leaders who consistently operate beyond compliance, to those firms that are in compliance and want to go further, to facilities that are consistent non-compliers. Voluntary in nature, these stakeholder-driven programs can lead to a tailored set of regulatory or non-regulatory incentives, tools, and actions to improve performance by a large number of facilities within a sector.

# Voluntary Sector Programs

There are other voluntary sector programs that focus on one or a limited number of environmental issues and enlist companies or entire sectors to engage in pollution prevention or control. These programs have many of the same values and benefits as the multi-media performance improvement programs. They enable EPA to address issues or companies that are outside of the regulatory framework and encourage the regulated industry to go beyond compliance.

# **Research and Development**

Much of the work of EPA's Office of Research and Development is basic scientific research, although the office also promotes the development of new technologies. Current sector research is directed to identification of best practices in a sector, assessment of a specific problem within a sector, and development of new technologies or pollution prevention methods to address a problem in a sector.

## **Regional Programs**

There are varying levels of support for innovation and sector programs in EPA's regional offices. Some regions, such as Region 1, have very active sector programs that offer compliance and technical assistance, environmental recognition awards, and enforcement. Sectors chosen by EPA Headquarters for enforcement or voluntary programs may not be a high priority in a given region, making it difficult to assign staff and resources to these programs.

#### **Performance Measurement**

The Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) requires EPA to measure the results of its programs. EPA must prepare annual reports that describe the environmental effects of its programs, based on the goals and objectives articulated in the Agency's Strategic Plan and Annual Performance Plans.

Currently performance measurement of sector programs is focused on "output" measures, such as the number of reports produced or workshops conducted, rather than "results" measures, such as reductions in emissions or discharge of pollutants. Without "results" measures it is difficult to assess and demonstrate the environmental value of sector programs.

#### Information and Coordination

Although there is a significant number of sector activities at EPA, there is limited coordination or sharing of information among them. Little information is available on the results of some sector programs, and the information that is available from various EPA activities is not being placed in a central repository. Current EPA databases demonstrate varying abilities to retrieve available information by sector. As a result, it can be difficult to obtain the data needed for sector programs.

# Barriers to Sector Approaches at EPA

The types of sector work mentioned above indicate that there are successful and effective sector approaches in EPA programs. However, institutional barriers remain that can limit the effectiveness of sector-based activities. The culture change to fully integrate sector approaches into EPA's core functions is an ongoing effort – part of the Agency's own continuous improvement. Data gathering for this Plan highlighted several barriers of note:

• *Strategic planning:* EPA's structure, statutory mandates, and results-based planning architecture present challenges for multi-media programs and voluntary programs. Sector work is not yet well integrated into the Agency's strategic planning process under the Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA). Sector approaches may not receive necessary resource support because they are not directly linked to primary Agency goals.

- *Program planning:* There is inadequate information exchange, planning, and coordination among sector programs, and between voluntary and regulatory Agency programs. As a result, programs may find themselves working at cross-purposes, based on different program mandates. Opportunities for multi-media sector projects may be missed, or be acted upon without a foundation of cross-office support.
- *Measurement:* While sector approaches have the potential to achieve environmental results more effectively and efficiently, EPA lacks measurement tools to demonstrate the impact of the sector approach on the outcome achieved. This lack of sector program performance data makes it more difficult to make future planning decisions.
- *Resources:* Planning and measurement barriers make it more difficult to define resource needs and justify expenditures for sector approaches, especially multimedia sector programs. Yet innovative new sector approaches often have the greatest need for "seed" resources to support stakeholder dialogues, data gathering and analysis, pilot projects, and other start-up activities.

# Use of Sector Approaches by Government Co-Implementers

State, local, and tribal government co-implementers are responsible for carrying out most environmental policies and regulations. Each state, local, or tribal co-implementer agency has its own set of specific authorities and roles. Some of them carry out policies handed down from higher levels of government and have limited discretion as to how to apply these policies to their local conditions. Others implement non-mandatory programs that allow discretion, but may be constrained by resource availability and regulatory barriers.

This section summarizes the different ways that government co-implementers commonly use sector approaches.

#### State and Local Co-Implementers

State and local environmental agencies commonly use sector approaches in rulemaking, technical assistance and pollution prevention activities. At the state level, use of sector approaches is closely related to the way state agencies perform their rulemaking, permitting, enforcement, and assistance activities. In larger municipalities and industrialized smaller municipalities, the sector approach is used with regulated industries concentrated in the community. Local water treatment authorities are important regulators of industrial sources.

#### Planning

Some state and local co-implementers consider sector approaches in their planning processes and evaluation of priorities. In the process of negotiating compliance and enforcement priorities via Memoranda of Agreement with EPA's Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance, both states and EPA regions consider sectors in setting priorities. Sector approaches also can be incorporated in Performance Partnership Agreements (PPAs), which set joint priorities between EPA and individual states.

#### **Regulation Development**

Co-implementers often apply a single-medium sector approach similar to that used by EPA's program offices. A sector approach allows for a more substantive dialogue with state and local industry groups, and can provide opportunities for other stakeholder groups, including community organizations, to participate in regulation development in a more substantial, focused manner.

# Permitting

In many states and large local agencies, permit engineers specialize in specific sectors, developing the expertise needed to carry out their responsibilities. A sector approach has been used on a limited basis in writing permits. An example of this is use of general permits under the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) to permit Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation (CAFO) facilities.

# Enforcement and Compliance Assurance

In larger state and local agencies, the compliance inspectors, like the permit engineers, often specialize in specific sectors to address concentrations of industry. Priority sectors are included in the MOAs between EPA and the state agencies; these priorities reflect EPA's national and regional priorities.

# Technical Assistance

Technical assistance, including pollution prevention assistance, is often developed for use by entire sectors because facilities within a sector have similar processes, materials, rules, and business conditions. Also, sector-based technical assistance can be delivered effectively through trade associations. Co-implementers' assistance programs are particularly valuable for small business dominated sectors that may not be subject to federal regulation.

# Multi-Media Performance Improvement Programs

Co-implementers may use a sector approach in their multi-media performance improvement programs. State and local environmental agencies also are essential partners for EPA to be able to design, create, and put its own multi-media performance improvement programs into place. EPA and its co-implementer partners face a challenge in linking these programs with regional, state, and local environmental priorities.

## **Tribal Co-Implementers**

There are 560 tribal nations in the United States. Not much information is available on the use of sector approaches in Indian Country. However, one of the objectives of EPA's Indian Program is to complete Tribal and EPA Environmental Agreements (TEAs) with every tribe; 119 are currently in place. EPA is also assessing environmental conditions in Indian Country to provide information with which to set priorities and a baseline from which to measure progress; 219 assessments are scheduled to be completed by the end of FY 2001.

The Agency's American Indian Environmental Office provides multi-media coordination for Indian programs, so there is a mechanism in place to support sector approaches. Currently mining and forestry are sectors of concern to many tribes; others will be identified during the assessment process and development of TEAs.

# **Barriers to Sector Approaches by Government Co-Implementers**

Government co-implementers have identified the following barriers to sector approaches in their jurisdictions.

- *Inconsistent priorities*: EPA sector priorities may be inconsistent with state and local sector priorities. Co-implementers suggest that they should have more input in federal priority-setting for sector opportunities, and that EPA sector programs should take into account regional and state differences in environmental issues.
- *Communication:* States perceive a lack of communication between different EPA programs, between EPA Headquarters and Regions, and among state agencies themselves. Poor communication can lead to poor coordination of the objectives of sector programs and missed opportunities to work together toward shared goals.
- *Lack of flexibility:* Co-implementers see a lack of flexibility in interpreting regulations as a barrier to further progress in sector work. This lack of flexibility can prevent them from addressing specific problems of industries in their states. They suggest that greater input from co-implementers during regulation development would help EPA identify opportunities for flexible implementation.
- *Lack of tools:* State and local government co-implementers often lack tools for working effectively with industry sectors tools such as data sources, planning aids, measurement and tracking systems, and guidance on the use of new techniques like Environmental Management Systems.
- *Culture change:* Many government co-implementers of sector programs see a traditional command-and-control "mind set" that permeates EPA programs, as well as their own agencies, and limits the use of innovative sector approaches. The traditional perspective can affect all programs by limiting opportunities for

negotiation, multi-stakeholder participation, and performance based standards. 3. Opportunities to Enhance the Effectiveness of Sector Activities

This Plan identifies six opportunities and twelve related EPA actions to improve the Agency's use of sector approaches to achieve its Strategic Goals, enhance partnerships with government co-implementers, and better address stakeholder concerns in general. The opportunities and actions reflect conclusions drawn from several CSI evaluations, plus information gathered from recent interviews with EPA and external stakeholders. The actions would bolster EPA's capacity to use sector tools in both traditional regulatory programs and innovative multi-media performance improvement programs.

The opportunities are:

- Integrate sector approaches into EPA's strategic planning Coordinate planning and implementation of multi-media sector programs
- Gather and share sector information
- Enhance performance measurement of sector programs
- Provide resources to test and implement new sector approaches
- Establish sector-based customer service functions.

Each of these opportunities is described in more detail below. In the discussion, some actions specify the Office of Policy, Economics, and Innovation (OPEI) as the lead organization. For these items, OPEI is prepared to dedicate resources to implement the action. Other proposals outlined in this chapter require further Agency review, discussion, and endorsement. We anticipate that this review process will yield additional ideas and revisions. The final actions will be elevated to EPA's Reinvention Action Council before final presentation to the Administrator.

# Integrate Sector Approaches into EPA's Strategic Planning

Under the Government Performance and Results Act, EPA must update its Strategic Plan every three years. EPA also must produce an annual plan that outlines activities to achieve the goals in the Strategic Plan. Items included in these planning documents become part of the formal set of "deliverables" for which the Agency is accountable to Congress. One of the objectives of GPRA is to link the Agency's planning and budgeting functions with accountability. Consequently, items included in the formal planning documents gain visibility.

Currently, sector programs are addressed only under Goal 8 of EPA's Strategic Plan: *Sound Science, Improved Understanding of Environmental Risk and Greater Innovation to Address Environmental Problems* and in a Chapter on cross-cutting programs. It therefore is difficult to integrate sector approaches into the Agency's strategies for achieving its single-media goals, and it is difficult to foster multi-media sector approaches that address all of the goals.

#### Action:

• *Identify sector approaches as strategies to achieve EPA's Strategic Goals.* OPEI will designate a sector representative to participate on each Agency goal team during the strategic and annual planning processes. This representative will help identify ways that sector approaches can be used to achieve each strategic goal. EPA also will address the possible use of sector approaches in the implementation sections of EPA's annual plans. By more directly connecting sector approaches with annual planning, Agency program offices will become more aware of sector tools to help them achieve program priorities.

# **Coordinate Planning and Implementation of Multi-Media Sector Programs**

In addition to the strategic and annual planning processes discussed above, EPA uses many other planning processes to identify priorities and direct Agency work. Examples include the regulatory agenda, memoranda of agreement and management agreements between headquarters and regions, performance partnership agreements between EPA and states, and environmental agreements between EPA and tribes.

While sector program planning does take place within these processes on an ad hoc basis, there is no coordinated effort to ensure that sector activities address EPA priorities. There is an opportunity to foster an integrated planning and implementation process for sector programs to ensure that EPA and co-implementer priorities are addressed.

#### Actions:

- **Designate EPA staff "catalysts" to identify multi-media sector opportunities.** OPEI will dedicate staff to be internal monitors of the Agency's priority issues, upcoming regulatory agenda, and other activities to identify cross-office sector program opportunities. These sector "catalysts" will establish cross-office information flow and "seed" multi-media projects. For example, the "catalyst" will review EPA's regulatory agenda to look for opportunities to couple upcoming regulatory action with voluntary beyond compliance activities in a given sector.
- **Recognize government co-implementer priorities during sector program planning.** EPA will establish sector liaisons with co-implementers to gather information on regional, state, and local environmental priorities. The Agency will coordinate with the Environmental Council of States (ECOS), Association of Metropolitan Sewerage Agencies (AMSA), and other co-implementer organizations, to jointly identify opportunities for sector approaches. EPA's sector program planning will take into account these co-implementer priorities.
- *Coordinate selection of priority sectors for cross-Agency attention.* OPEI will coordinate with Agency program offices, regional offices, and government co-

implementers to analyze candidate industry sectors that may warrant Agencywide attention because they are strongly linked to multi-media priorities and public concerns. As part of the annual EPA planning cycle, OPEI will report its analysis of opportunities to the Agency's Multi-Media Pollution Prevention (M2P2) Forum and the Reinvention Action Council (RAC). These senior leadership groups will select industry sectors for comprehensive, cross-Agency program planning and development, based on their potential to address important problems more effectively through a comprehensive multi-media approach. (Note, this planning process will not preclude EPA work with other industry sectors to address more narrowly focused environmental issues.)

- **Design and implement multi-media sector programs to address priority** *environmental problems.* Once an industry sector is selected as a multi-media priority for EPA, OPEI will convene a stakeholder process to design a sectorwide program to promote performance improvement. This process will include analysis of sector issues across all media, problem-solving to define program plans, and implementation of regulatory and non-regulatory projects. OPEI will provide ongoing support for planning, stakeholder dialogue, program start-up, and measurement.
- Expand the use of Performance Partnership Agreements and other agreement tools to promote the use of sector approaches by government co-implementers. To help government co-implementers better understand how to use sector approaches to address their priorities, EPA will develop a chapter on "implementing innovations" for inclusion in the Performance Partnership Agreements Primer.

# **Gather and Share Sector Information**

EPA's creation of a new Office of Environmental Information (OEI) demonstrates that information issues are a priority for the Agency. Retrieving information about industry sectors and specific sector programs within EPA is difficult, because information is widely dispersed. Consequently, sector programs are not able to use information. There are a number of immediate actions which can help federal, state and local programs make better use of sector information to achieve environmental protection.

#### Actions:

• **Develop a sector programs data source.** OPEI will develop an improved data resource to provide regular updates on the progress of select sector programs and contact information for ongoing sector activities. This data will be maintained on EPA's Internet site and available to EPA programs, government co-implementers, and the general public. EPA will work with co-implementers to establish links to relevant assistance resources such as: the Small Business Administration's Development Centers, the National Institute of Standards and Technology, Manufacturing Extension Partnerships, EPA's Compliance Assistance

Clearinghouse, and the Pollution Prevention Resource Exchange (P2Rx).

- *Make sector tools and training more available for state and local governments.* EPA will help build co-implementer's interest in sector programs by using existing tools and developing new tools and training as needed. Tools may include:
  - sector contact lists,
  - primers on when and how to use sector approaches and how to create incentives for industry participation,
  - best practice case studies and lessons learned,
  - tools for cost-benefit analysis and performance measurement, and
  - sector-based guidance for environmental management systems.

## **Enhance Performance Measurement of Sector Programs**

Voluntary sector stewardship projects have the potential to address important environmental problems and achieve significant environmental gains, but many of these programs have not been able to measure their actual environmental results. Consequently, some sector programs cannot quantify their contribution to the Agency's mission.

#### Actions:

- **Develop a training program and toolbox for performance measurement.** OPEI is currently designing an internet-based Sector Program Performance Measurement Toolbox that will assist sector program managers with the design of statistically meaningful measurement systems. The Toolbox will include "smart forms" to guide users through menus of potential measures and data sources. See the companion document entitled *Toolbox for Sector Program Performance Measurement*.
- Implement performance measures to assess the environmental results of sectorbased enforcement and compliance assurance activities. As part of the 1997 National Performance Measurement Strategy, EPA will develop statistically valid noncompliance rates for several industry sectors during Federal Fiscal Years 2000-2001. The initial work will use self-reported data from current and former MOA priorities and track this information over several years in order to examine the relationships between activities and compliance.

# **Provide Resources to Support New Sector Work**

In spite of their potential to deliver environmental results and save resources over time, many sector approaches are not directly funded. Given EPA's many statutory mandates and established programs, Agency program offices and regions find it difficult to free up resources for new sector initiatives, particularly those that are not required by statute or court

order. Often, resources must be taken from mandated activities to fund new programs.

Moreover, many sector programs require up-front "seed" funding to test innovative new approaches during implementation. As a consequence, many sector activities are constrained or curtailed before they have a chance to take root, despite having broad stakeholder support. There is an opportunity for EPA to overcome resource constraints and build incentives for multi-media sector work by establishing a dedicated fund for promising sector initiatives.

#### Action:

• *Establish a sector innovation fund to create a strong incentive for EPA programs to consider sector approaches to achieve their program goals.* The sector innovation fund would support initial work on multi-media sector initiatives at EPA, including pilot programs in states and localities. Prospective projects would be required to demonstrate measurable environmental results, a strong link to the EPA's Strategic Goals, and a clear resource need.

# **Establish Sector-Based Customer Service Functions**

EPA is actively expanding customer service functions in order to be more responsive to the regulated community and the public. Sector approaches provide an opportunity to enhance EPA's customer service. The regulated community sometimes finds it difficult to gain access to EPA. Improved customer service would make it easier for stakeholders to engage in constructive dialogue with the Agency. Good customer service is necessary for cost-effective environmental improvements.

#### Action:

• *Expand sector point of contact program*. EPA will identify individual "points of contact" for selected industries. These industry desk representatives will be knowledgeable experts about their respective industry sectors and will facilitate dialogue, answer questions, provide information, and help address issues. They would help convene and build relationships among stakeholders in an industry sector, EPA, state and local governments, and environmental and community groups, then help these groups find innovative solutions to problems affecting the sector.